FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
11/6/2019 12:47 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/6/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. <u>97831-0</u> COA NO. 77561-8-I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
v.
JOSE RENE GOMEZ,
Petitioner.
PEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE TE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY
The Honorable Judith Ramseyer, Judge
PETITION FOR REVIEW

CASEY GRANNIS Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Yessica Orozco-Garibay and Antonio Delgado had a daughter, DDO, born in 2001. RP 141-42. The parents broke up in 2010. RP 189.

DDO loved her father and took the breakup hard. RP 189. Jose Gomez began a relationship with Orozco and eventually came to live with her and DDO. RP 147-48, 150-51. DDO started acting out. RP 207-08. DDO didn't like Gomez because he tried to act like a father. RP 241, 304, 306. Gomez rarely gave her permission to do things, such as allowing her to go out with friends. RP 242, 308. Her biological father would let her go out whenever she wanted. RP 309. DDO wanted to move in with her father and asked him to let her, but he would decline. RP 272, 310.

In June 2015, DDO told her mother that Gomez touched her. RP 161-62. When confronted, Gomez denied the allegation. RP 174. DDO went to live with her father after she made the allegation and the authorities intervened. RP 172. DDO packed up her belongings to move in with her father before she made the allegation. RP 315, 383, 404. The investigating detective described DDO as happy to leave. RP 404.

At trial, DDO claimed Gomez touched her more than 100 times. RP 318. She said he touched her in front of her mother, but that her mother was probably looking the other way. RP 299. DDO asserted Gomez touched her breasts, butt and vagina during bouts of play-tickling. RP 244-45. She described a specific instance where he "tried" to touch her vagina while her mother was in the shower. RP 259-60. She described another time where he touched her breast, over her clothes, in

the living room. RP 262. She yelled for her mother, who did not respond. RP 261-64. She also described a time when Gomez came up behind her and was "trying" to touch her butt while she was washing dishes. RP 268.

DDO said Gomez would "try" to touch her. RP 259, 264-68, 359. Upon prompting from the prosecutor, she later claimed that when she said "try," she did not mean "try," but rather meant he actually touched her. See RP 297, 321-22, 351, 362-63. This was confusing. For example, referring to a park incident, DDO initially testified he actually touched her. RP 319. Then she said he tried but did not actually touch her. RP 320. Then she claimed she testified he actually touched her "Because to me try means yes, that he did touch me." RP 320. Referring to a bedroom incident, she testified he tried to touch her, but did not remember if he actually touched her, thus conveying that "try" really meant "try." RP 321.

DDO contradicted herself on what she said in a defense interview, where she explained "try" means he did not actually touch her. RP 362-63. At trial, DDO claimed "I told you and I told him that for me, try meant that he did touch me, but I would get away." RP 363. She also contradicted her trial testimony. Regarding a camping incident, she initially testified Gomez tried to kiss but she pulled away. RP 265-67. She was asked "Did you and Jose kiss on the lips?" RP 266. Her answer: "No." RP 266. On cross examination, she was asked: "If I recall correctly,

you were asked, 'Did he kiss you on the lips?' and you said 'No.'" RP 342. Her answer: "No. I did say 'yes.'" RR 342.

DDO's mother bought her some underwear in April 2015. RP 211-12, 253, 255. The day DDO told her mother about being touched, DDO and Gomez were arguing via text messaging about Gomez wanting her to send him a photo. RP 273. DDO testified she had received the underwear within a week of the ongoing text message exchange. RP 282. On April 21, he messaged "take a picture of the white shorts and send it to me please." RP 280-81. DDO believed he was referring to the recently purchased underwear. RP 280. She declined the request. RP 281. He offered to let her sleep at a friend's house and give her money for the weekend if she sent him the photo. RP 281-82.

On April 24, when she asked to go with a friend to a movie, Gomez responded "remember what you have to do if you want to go. If your answer is not mine is not too." RP 283. She said, "No because I can tell my mom because that's not a good thing." RP 283. He responded "It's okay. You can tell your mom and I will tell her what I know about you." RP 284. He was referring to DDO having a boyfriend. RP 284. He said he would talk to her mom that day. RP 285. She said she was going to tell her everything. RP 288. He said "Okay. No problem. I'm ready. Are you sure you want to do this just for one pic." RP 288. She told him she

didn't want to send him a picture and "You keep touching me when I told you to stop and you don't stop." RP 289. Defense objected to this text message as hearsay, but the trial court admitted it under the state of mind exception and under the rule of completeness. CP 32-33; RP 41-43, 47.

Gomez asked for a "pic" again on April 25 and May 10. RP 290-92. On May 20, he conditioned his permission for her to go to the park on her giving the photo. RP 293-94. DDO said she'd tell her mother. RP 295. He said if she did "You guys will have to leave my house." RP 295.

In a police interview, Gomez denied inappropriately touching DDO. RP 392. Gomez acknowledged he requested a photo of DDO wearing underwear. RP 399-400. DDO had told him her underwear was too small and he wanted proof that it was so. RP 399-400, 417.

After receiving the above evidence, the jury found Gomez guilty of two counts of second degree child molestation and one count of communication with a minor for immoral purposes. CP 60-62.

On appeal, Gomez argued the trial court erred in admitting the challenged text message, the prosecutor committed misconduct in disparaging defense counsel, and counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the misconduct or request a curative instruction. The Court of Appeals affirmed. Slip op. at 1.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. THE COURT WRONGLY ADMITTED A TEXT MESSAGE INTO EVIDENCE, REQUIRING REVERSAL OF THE CONVICTIONS.

Hearsay is an out-of-court statement offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. ER 801(c). Unless an exception or exclusion applies, hearsay is inadmissible. ER 802. The trial court admitted, over defense counsel's hearsay objection, a text message sent from DDO to Gomez in which she states that Gomez touched her. The trial court admitted the statement under the state of mind exception to the hearsay rule and the rule of completeness. The Court of Appeals affirmed admission on a different ground — that the text message qualifies as a prior consistent statement under ER 801(d)(1)(ii), which is not hearsay. Slip op. at 17-19.

The Court of Appeals reviewed the trial court's decision for abuse of discretion. Slip op. 18. Whether a statement qualifies as hearsay is reviewed de novo. State v. Gonzalez-Gonzalez, 193 Wn. App. 683, 688-89, 370 P.3d 989 (2016); State v. Hudlow, 182 Wn. App. 266, 281, 331 P.3d 90 (2014); Lynn v. Labor Ready, Inc., 136 Wn. App. 295, 306, 151 P.3d 201 (2006), State v. Edwards, 131 Wn. App. 611, 614, 128 P.3d 631, 632 (2006) (citing State v. Neal, 144 Wn.2d 600, 607, 30 P.3d 1255 (2001)). The Court of Appeals decision, in relying on an abuse of

discretion standard, conflicts with prior precedent that review is de novo. Discretionary review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Furthermore, the abuse of discretion standard is improper when the Court of Appeals relies on a basis for admission that the trial court did not rely on to affirm. At the trial level, the State did not seek admission of the statement as a prior consistent statement and the trial court did not admit it on that ground. It is incoherent to say the court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the evidence as a prior consistent statement when the court did not exercise its discretion to admit the evidence on that ground. See Colorado Structures, Inc. v. Blue Mountain Plaza, LLC, 159 Wn. App. 654, 660, 246 P.3d 835 (2011) ("It is impossible for a trial court to abuse discretion it was never called upon to exercise.").

This Court has stated "when reviewing for an abuse of discretion, we will not substitute our judgment for that of the trial court." In re Pers.

Restraint of Duncan, 167 Wn.2d 398, 406, 219 P.3d 666 (2009). But when an appellate court affirms the admission of evidence on a ground that is different than used by the trial court, the appellate courts has substituted its judgment for that of the trial court. There is therefore no reason for the abuse of discretion standard to apply. In the absence of a trial court decision on the dispositive ground for admission, there is no decision calling for deference. Review should be de novo when the Court

of Appeals substitutes its judgment for that of the trial court in upholding the admission of evidence on a basis not relied on by the trial court.

Mere repetition of a statement does not imply veracity. <u>State v. Purdom</u>, 106 Wn.2d 745, 750, 725 P.2d 622 (1986). "The State, as proponent of admission of the prior consistent statement, must demonstrate that it was made before the time that the supposed motive to falsify arose." <u>State v. Osborn</u>, 59 Wn. App. 1, 5, 795 P.2d 1174, <u>review denied</u>, 115 Wn.2d 1032, 803 P.2d 325 (1990). Conversely, an out-of-court statement consistent with the witness's trial testimony is inadmissible if such statement was made *after* the motive to fabricate arose. <u>State v. Harper</u>, 35 Wn. App. 855, 857-58, 670 P.2d 296 (1983), <u>review denied</u>, 100 Wn.2d 1035 (1984).

DDO's prior consistent statement was made after her motive to fabricate arose and is therefore inadmissible as a prior consistent statement. In holding otherwise, the Court of Appeals misinterpreted the prior consistent statement rule. The Court of Appeals stated: "The record shows D.D.-O. and Rene-Gomez argued about her request to send a photograph of her in the underpants in April 2015, well before she told her mother in June 2015 that Rene-Gomez sexually abused her. Because her mother did not believe her, D.D.-O. told her father on June 30 that Rene-Gomez sexually abused her." Slip op. at 19. This does not answer the

question posed by the rule. The question is not whether a prior consistent statement was made before an ultimate disclosure was given, but whether "the prior consistent statement was made *before* the witness's motive to fabricate arose." State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 865, 83 P.3d 970, 992 (2004).

DDO's motive to fabricate arose after her biological father moved out and Gomez took his place by acting as a father figure. DDO resented Gomez, chafed at his discipline, bucked against restrictions imposed on her social life, and acted out. RP 189, 147-51, 207-08, 241-42, 272, 304-10. Her father, meanwhile, spoiled her. RP 198. As a result, DDO expressed her desire to move out and live with her father well before she sent the text message and later made the abuse allegation to her mother. DDO testified that she "always" asked her father if she could move in with him and that she first developed this desire about a year after Gomez moved. RP 272, 310. Gomez moved in around 2011, meaning the motive to fabricate arose around 2012, well before the text message at issue here. RP 142, 215, 240. DDO wanted to move out and be with her father and the abuse allegation provided a basis to get what she wanted.

The Court of Appeals said defense counsel's closing argument "focused on the timing of the argument and the disclosure to argue D.D.-O. was not credible." Slip op. at 19. Whatever the "focus" of argument,

defense counsel pointed out circumstances for why DDO had a motive to lie that predated the text message at issue here: "We know that [DDO] wanted to get out of the apartment. We knew that [DDO] didn't like Mr. Gomez. We know that [DDO] was acting out, that she was rebellious. She wanted to be out with her friends on the weekdays. We know that Yessica asked Mr. Gomez to take a more active role in enforcing the rules[.]" RP 535. Counsel then turned to the significance of the June 2015 argument, which represented the culmination of a process that started long before DDO sent the text message at issue. RP 535-36.

Counsel later returned to the reasons why DDO had a motivate to fabricate long before the June 2015 argument: "She doesn't care about Mr. Gomez. Mr. Gomez is not her real dad. Mr. Gomez doesn't spoil her like Antonio. Mr. Gomez doesn't let her do whatever she wants. Remember that [DDO] always asked Antonio if she could move in with him, and he said, 'Not now. I don't have room for you. Wait.' And then Antonio's sister moves to Mexico. She has room in her house. Antonio moves, and Diana begins packing before police are even involved. Then this allegation comes out. What a coincidence." RP 544-45. The motive to fabricate arose and endured after her father moved out and Gomez moved in. It was therefore inadmissible as a prior consistent statement.

Evidentiary error requires reversal if there is a reasonable probability that the error affected the outcome. State v. Neal, 144 Wn.2d 600, 611, 30 P.3d 1255 (2001). The improperly admitted text message formed an important part of the State's case. The prosecutor said so in closing argument: "This message is incredibly important." RP 523. It was important because the text message corroborated the indecent liberties allegations. It existed independent of DDO's confusing trial testimony on the matter. Without the text message, all that is left is DDO's say-so, with no extrinsic evidence to back up the allegation. To convict on the indecent liberties charges, the jury needed to find DDO credible. The improperly admitted text message bolstered her credibility. And not just on the indecent liberties counts. As acknowledged by the prosecutor in closing, the text messages were relevant to all counts, and showed an overlap between sexual contact and sexual communication. RP 517, 534. The improperly admitted text message about touching made it more likely that the jury would disregard Gomez's defense to the communication charge that he requested the photo for a non-sexual purpose, i.e., he wanted to see if the underwear fit. Under the circumstances, there is a reasonable probability the error affected the outcome on all charges, requiring their reversal.

2. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT IN CLOSING ARGUMENT DEPRIVED GOMEZ OF HIS DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

Prosecutorial misconduct can violate the due process right to a fair trial. Greer v. Miller, 483 U.S. 756, 765, 107 S. Ct. 3102, 97 L. Ed. 2d 618 (1987); State v. Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 757, 762, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Wash. Const. art. 1, § 3. In this case, the prosecutor committed misconduct by disparaging defense counsel. The misconduct denied Gomez his right to a fair trial, requiring reversal of the convictions. In the alternative, defense counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the misconduct or request a curative instruction. Gomez seeks review under RAP 13.4(c) and (d).

a. The prosecutor committed misconduct in disparaging defense counsel.

In cross-examination, defense counsel questioned DDO about her claim that she successfully fought off Gomez's attempts to touch her even though Gomez was physically much larger. RP 325. In closing argument, the prosecutor addressed defense counsel's attempt to discredit DDO's version of events in this manner:

Lastly, [DDO] was not molested because she was to fight off a larger defendant. And if you remember Mr. Cyr asked [DDO] about her size, she said she was about four feet, I believe, and under a hundred pounds. She agreed that Mr. Gomez was much bigger than her. And Mr. Cyr's questions sounded surprised that this small girl was able to fight off

such a larger attacker. First, it is fairly disgusting, disrespectful, and offensive to say that a sexual assault victim should not be believed because she was able to stop her attacker from further harming her. Remember, many of these incidents, they occurred in the house, and it would be logical for Mr. Gomez not to put up much of a fight when he knows that all it takes is Yessica to round the corner at the wrong time, and then his cover is blown. This would have been a terrifying, horrifying experience for a young girl, and perhaps [DDO] even acted stronger than she knew possible when she started kicking at and flailing her limbs when Mr. Gomez grabbed her. So, it is possible that she was able to fight him off. And I want you to think about the opposite for a second. If Mr. Cyr asked her that question and [DDO] stated that she did not fight off Mr. Gomez, then the argument would likely be to you, "Well, she's lying because of course a victim would try to fight off her attacker." The fact is is that none of us are in a position to opine how [DDO], a sexual assault victim, should have behaved during that attack. She's the victim. The onerous is not on her to act in any certain way. RP 532-33 (emphasis added).

Every defendant in a criminal case has the due process and Sixth Amendment right to present a defense. State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 720, 230 P.3d 576 (2010); Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683, 690, 106 S. Ct. 2142, 90 L. Ed. 2d 636 (1986); U.S. Const. amend. VI and XIV; Wash. Const. art. 1, §§ 3, 22. No prosecutor may employ language that "limits the fundamental due process right of an accused to present a vigorous defense." Sizemore v. Fletcher, 921 F.2d 667, 671 (6th Cir. 1990). A prosecutor can argue the defense theory is unsupported by evidence, but "a prosecutor must not impugn the role or integrity of defense counsel." State v. Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d 423, 431-32, 326 P.3d 125 (2014).

The prosecutor's accusation that defense counsel's argument was "disgusting, disrespectful, and offensive" falls within the category of impermissible disparagement. RP 533. In effect, the prosecutor invited the jury to find defense counsel acted immoral in having the temerity to put on a defense by means of such a theory. The prosecutor cast defense counsel in the role of someone who has offended community values: how dare counsel act so unethically and unprofessionally as to attack the complaining child witness's credibility in this manner?

Prosecutorial statements that malign defense counsel are impermissible because they can damage a defendant's opportunity to present his case. <u>Lindsay</u>, 180 Wn.2d at 432. Such statements "strike at the very fundamental due process protections that the Fourteenth Amendment has made applicable to ensure an inherent fairness in our adversarial system of criminal justice." <u>Bruno v. Rushen</u>, 721 F.2d 1193, 1195 (9th Cir. 1983). The prosecutor's comment damaged Gomez's opportunity to put on a defense by casting the defense attack on DDO's credibility as morally corrupt and offensive.

There is another instance of misconduct. In closing argument, the prosecutor discounted defense counsel's attempt to make the lack of physical evidence, including DNA, rape kit, and forensic evidence, a factor in the case. RP 515-17. That portion of the argument is fine. But the prosecutor

later returned to the point and, in doing so, stepped over the line: "So, what exactly is the State's burden? During the course of any trial, you're going to receive a lot of information, a lot of facts, and much of that information will be useful in order to decide whether the defendant is guilty. *But some of that information, its sole purpose is to muddy the waters or to distract[.]*" RP 520. The prosecutor then went on to address what the State needed to prove. RP 520. And what the State did not need to prove, including DNA, a sexual assault kit, injury to DDO, additional eyewitnesses, corroborating evidence, a confession, a motive, DDO's anger, that she was a typical victim, that the text messages were or were not deleted. RP 520-21.

The prosecutor did not explicitly identify defense counsel as the one who gave information to the jury, the "sole purpose" of which was to "muddy the waters or to distract[.]" RP 520. But there were only two parties in the case. The prosecutor was not accusing himself of giving the jury misleading information. That leaves defense counsel as the culprit. In context, the prosecutor was telling the jury that defense counsel was purposefully trying to obfuscate the issues and confuse the jury.

The implication of deception and dishonesty on the part of defense counsel is improper. <u>Lindsay</u>, 180 Wn.2d at 433 (calling counsel's argument a "crock"); <u>State v. Thorgerson</u>, 172 Wn.2d 438, 451-52, 258 P.3d 43 (2011) (referring to defense counsel's presentation as "bogus" and

involving "sleight of hand"); State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 29-30, 195 P.3d 940 (2008), cert. denied, 129 S. Ct. 2007, 173 L. Ed. 2d 1102 (2009) (prosecutor told the jury there were a "number of mischaracterizations" in defense counsel's argument as "an example of what people go through in a criminal justice system when they deal with defense attorneys" and described counsel's argument as a "classic example of taking these facts and completely twisting them to their own benefit, and hoping that you are not smart enough to figure out what in fact they are doing."). The prosecutor's comment qualifies as an attack on counsel's honesty and integrity because it conveyed the message that defense counsel tried to mislead the jury by muddying the waters and creating distraction.

Defense counsel did not object to the misconduct but appellate review remains available in the absence of objection if the misconduct is so flagrant and ill-intentioned that no curative instruction could have erased the prejudice. State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 747, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). "[T]he failure to object will not prevent a reviewing court from protecting a defendant's constitutional right to a fair trial." State v. Walker, 182 Wn.2d 463, 477, 341 P.3d 976, cert. denied, 135 S. Ct. 2844, 192 L. Ed. 2d 876 (2015). Disregard of a well-established rule of law is deemed flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct. State v. Fleming, 83 Wn. App. 209, 214, 921 P.2d 1076 (1996), review denied, 131 Wn.2d 1018, 936

P.2d 417 (1997). A prosecutor's misconduct is also flagrant and ill-intentioned where case law and professional standards available to the prosecutor clearly warned against the conduct. <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Glasmann</u>, 175 Wn.2d 696, 707, 286 P.3d 673 (2012). Case law in existence well before Gomez's trial, such as that cited here, clearly warned against the prosecutor's improper conduct in this case.

"Arguments that have an 'inflammatory effect' on the jury are generally not curable by a jury instruction." State v. Pierce, 169 Wn. App. 533, 552, 280 P.3d 1158, review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1025, 291 P.3d 253 (2012) (quoting Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 763). The prosecutor's expression that defense counsel's argument was "disgusting, disrespectful, and offensive" is inflammatory. RP 533. The statement is geared towards turning the jury against defense counsel and Gomez through invocation of morality. The prosecutor essentially called counsel immoral for putting on the defense. The prosecutor tried to make the jury angry at defense counsel. The danger is that he succeeded.

The remark about defense counsel eliciting information that muddied the waters and distracted from the real issues in the case is less inflammatory but should still be considered for its cumulative effect. RP 520. The cumulative effect of misconduct can overwhelm the power of instruction to cure. Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 707.

The evidence against Gomez was not overwhelming. DDO's testimony was shaky because she seemed to twist the meaning of her own words and contradicted herself. It was primarily her word against Gomez's denial that he touched her. The alleged sexual import of the text messaging, meanwhile, was susceptible to a non-sexual interpretation. RP 399-400, 417. Under these circumstances, there is a substantial likelihood that the prosecutor's misconduct affected the outcome.

b. Counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the misconduct or request curative instruction.

Gomez is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685-86, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 229, 743 P.2d 816 (1987); U.S. Const. amend. VI; Wash. Const., art. I, § 22. If a proper objection or request for a curative instruction could have cured the prejudice resulting from the misconduct, then defense counsel was ineffective in failing to take such action.

Defense counsel is ineffective where (1) the attorney's performance is deficient and (2) the deficiency prejudices the defendant. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. Deficient performance is that which falls below an objective standard of reasonableness. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d at 226. Only legitimate trial strategy or tactics constitute reasonable

performance. <u>State v. Kyllo</u>, 166 Wn.2d 856, 869, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). "If a prosecutor's remark is improper and prejudicial, failure to object may be deficient performance." <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Cross</u>, 180 Wn.2d 664, 722, 327 P.3d 660 (2014).

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