FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/2/2019 2:26 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 97831-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

JOSE RENE GOMEZ,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND CROSS-PETITION

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DONNA L. WISE Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

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

E. ARGUMENT

The State's briefing at the Court of Appeals adequately responds to the issues raised by Gomez in his petition for review. If review is accepted, the State seeks cross-review of alternative arguments it raised in the Court of Appeals but that the Court's decision did not address. RAP 13.4(d). The provisions of RAP 13.4(b) are inapplicable because the State is not seeking review, and believes that review by this Court is unnecessary. However, if this Court grants review, in the interests of justice and full consideration of the issues, this Court also should grant review of

the alternative arguments raised by the State in the Court of Appeals, identified in the issue statement above. RAP 1.2(a); RAP 13.7(b). Those arguments are summarized below and set forth more fully in the briefing in the Court of Appeals.

1. THE CHALLENGED TEXT MESSAGE, IN WHICH D.D.O. COMPLAINED TO GOMEZ ABOUT HIS REPEATED TOUCHING OF D.D.O., WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED.

Gomez contends that the trial court erred in denying his motion to exclude a text message from April 24, 2015, in which D.D.O. responded to Gomez's request for a picture of her in her underwear by referring to his repeated touching of her despite her objections. The Court of Appeals held that the message was admissible as a prior consistent statement to rebut a claim of fabrication. State v. Rene-Gomez, supra, slip opin. at 18-19. The State renews its arguments that the message also was admissible as an expression of D.D.O.'s state of mind and present sense impression of the event and as an adoptive admission by Gomez.

The message at issue was one in a series of messages between D.D.O. and Gomez, some in Spanish and some in English. Ex. 6; RP 247-48, 274-75. D.D.O. described the

messages and their context in her testimony, using images of the messages as they appeared on her telephone. Ex. 6; RP 274-97. A state-certified Spanish interpreter also provided a translation of the Spanish language messages. Exh. 12; RP 426, 433. A detective performed a forensic examination of D.D.O.'s telephone and produced a spread sheet that includes the date and time of each message, and its content. Exh. 15; RP 484-87.

In text messages beginning April 21, 2015, Gomez asked D.D.O. for a picture of her in a particular pair of white underwear. Exh. 12, p. 36; RP 279-80. He referred to this underwear as "shorts" – they were a girl's boxer-style brief – and later admitted to police that he was referring to that underwear. Ex. 12, p. 36; RP 280, 399-400. Gomez first told D.D.O. that he would let her go out and give her money if she sent a picture; later he said he would not give her permission to go out until she sent him that picture. Exh. 12, p. 38, 44; RP 281-83, 290-91, 294. D.D.O. refused Gomez's repeated requests to send the picture, over several weeks, telling Gomez it was "not a good thing" and "what you're doing is not okay." Exh. 12, p. 44, 74; RP 281-83, 290-91, 294.

On April 24, when D.D.O. refused to send a picture, she said she didn't have to (in order to get permission to go out) because

she could tell her mother. RP 283. In response, Gomez said he would tell her mother D.D.O. had a boyfriend, then said, "Are you sure you want to do this for just one pic." Exh. 12, p. 46; RP 284, 288. Then he said, "We'll talk later." RP 289. In response, D.D.O. sent the message that Gomez sought to exclude: "I don't want to send a pic and you keep touching me when I told you to stop and you don't stop and you get mad because I don't like it and take it out on me even though I behave well." Exh. 12, p. 48; RP 41-42, 289. The next day Gomez was asking for a picture again, saying "Please, please, please," and threatening, "Someday you're going to need something from me." Exh. 12, p. 52-54; RP 289-91.

The trial court concluded that the challenged message was probative, not unfairly prejudicial, and was admissible, saying Gomez could argue that the jury should not conclude it was an admission, that it was not hearsay because it was an expression of the victim's then existing state of mind, and that the message had a place in terms of completeness of the communication. RP 47. The standard of review of a trial court's ruling on a hearsay objection is for abuse of discretion. State v. Brush, 183 Wn.2d 550, 560, 353

P.3d 213 (2015); <u>State v. Young</u>, 160 Wn.2d 799, 805-06, 161 P.3d 967 (2007).³

The Message Was Not Hearsay Because It
 Was A Prior Consistent Statement Offered To
 Rebut A Claim Of Recent Fabrication.

As the Court of Appeals held, the statement was properly admitted because it was not hearsay but was a prior consistent statement rebutting a claim of fabrication. ER 801(d)(1). A statement is admissible as a prior consistent statement under this rule if it rebuts a specific defense theory as to a witness's motive to lie. State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 864-67, 83 P.3d 970 (2004).

The defense claimed D.D.O. fabricated the claim after an argument with Gomez that occurred within days of the disclosure of the abuse. RP 204, 311-13, 536-37. D.D.O. disclosed the abuse to her mother within a few days before June 30, 2015. RP 161-62, 173. When D.D.O.'s mother refused to do anything about the abuse, D.D.O. told her father about it on June 30; he reported it to police that day. RP 103-07. The defense theory at trial was that

³ Some courts of appeal have stated that review is de novo. *Compare* In re Det. of Peterson, 197 Wn. App. 722, 727, 389 P.3d 780 (2017) (abuse of discretion) *with* State v. Hudlow, 182 Wn. App. 266, 281, 331 P.3d 90 (2014) (de novo). Under either standard, the court did not err in admitting this text message.

D.D.O. fabricated the claim of molestation so she could live with her father. RP 536-37, 544-45. The challenged text message was sent April 24, 2015, two months before the abuse was reported to the police and D.D.O. was removed from the home, and in the message D.D.O. complained to Gomez directly about the touching. Exh. 12, p. 48; RP 289. This rebuts the defense theory that the report of abuse was fabricated after an argument in late June.

 The Message Was Admissible As A Present Sense Impression And Statement Of D.D.O.'S Then Existing Mental Or Emotional Condition.

Hearsay is "a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." ER 801(c). Hearsay generally is inadmissible but exceptions listed in ER 803(a) are not excluded. Two related exceptions apply to the statement at issue here: a present sense impression and a statement of then existing mental emotional or physical condition.⁴

A present sense impression is "a statement describing or explaining an event or condition made while the declarant was

- 11 -

⁴ Although the trial court mentioned only the latter, this court may affirm on any basis present in the record. <u>State v. Michielli</u>, 132 Wn.2d 229, 242-43, 937 P.2d 587 (1997).

perceiving the event or condition, or immediately thereafter." ER 803(a)(1). The statement at issue was admissible as a present sense impression because in it D.D.O. described her perception of the current request for a picture using an analogy: it was a request for a sexually inappropriate action that made D.D.O. uncomfortable, just like the repeated touching that she resisted.

Statements demonstrating the declarant's state of mind also are admissible. They are defined in ER 803(a)(3) as "A statement of the declarant's then existing state of mind, emotion, sensation, or physical condition (such as intent, plan, motive, design, mental feeling, pain, and bodily health), but not including a statement of memory or belief to prove the fact remembered or believed unless it relates to the ... declarant's will." The trial court properly ruled that the statement was admissible as evidence of a state of mind. RP 47. The statement indicated D.D.O.'s state of mind, her emotion, and her intent. It indicated that D.D.O. understood Gomez was asking for an improper photo, that it made her uncomfortable (just as the touching did), and that she did not intend to send it. RP 44. The message was material to Gomez's claim that he asked for the photo for an innocent purpose, his defense of accidental touching,

RP 393, and his claim that D.D.O. fabricated the allegations that he repeatedly touched her inappropriately. RP 543-45.

c. The Message Was Not Hearsay Because It Was An Adoptive Admission By Gomez.

The trial court also properly admitted the message because it was an adoptive admission. RP 45. Under ER 801(d)(2), a statement is not hearsay if it is "offered against a party and is ...(ii) a statement of which the party has manifested an adoption or belief in its truth...." Silence constitutes adoptive admission of a statement if (1) the party-opponent heard the accusatory statement and was mentally and physically able to respond, and (2) the statement and circumstances were such that it would be reasonable to conclude that an innocent person would have responded. State v. Israel, 113 Wn. App. 243, 282 n.11, 54 P.3d 1218 (2002) (citing State v. Neslund, 50 Wn. App. 531, 551, 749 P.2d 725 (1988)). The trial court's decision as to admissibility is only a threshold determination; the jury is primarily responsible for determining whether the defendant actually heard, understood, and acquiesced in the statement. Neslund, 50 Wn. App. at 551-52.

The trial court did not use the term "adoptive admission" in its ruling, but stated that the defense could argue the jury should not draw any inference because Gomez did not reply to that text, making it clear the State could argue that the jury should draw an inference from his silence. RP 47. This is a ruling of conditional relevance as an adoptive admission, as Neslund described, leaving it for the jury to determine the appropriate inference to draw.

Both components for admissibility as an adoptive admission existed. This message was in the midst of an ongoing exchange of texts and there was no suggestion that Gomez did not receive the message or was unable to respond. An innocent person would have responded immediately to the shocking allegations in the message. Even in closing argument, Gomez argued only that he was "speechless," not that he did not receive the message or was unable to respond. RP 542-43. The trial court thus properly admitted the message so the jury could determine whether the defendant's silence implied an admission of the allegation.

d. If The Message Was Improperly Admitted, The Error Was Harmless.

Even if admission of this text message was error, it was harmless and does not warrant reversal. Gomez concedes that any error in admitting the message was only evidentiary error. Petition at 11. Evidentiary error is harmless "unless, within reasonable probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred." State v. Tharp, 96 Wn.2d 591, 599, 637 P.2d 961 (1981).

This message was not the only one that was incriminating. Gomez's messages asking for a picture of D.D.O. in her underwear established his sexual interest in her. Gomez continued to ask for the picture for weeks, never referring to the fit of the underwear, or his excuse to police, that D.D.O. wanted to buy more underwear and he wanted proof those did not fit. Exh. 12; RP 399-400. That excuse also is inconsistent with his message offering her money for the picture and his threats to retaliate if she did not provide the picture. Exh. 12, p. 38, 44, 52-54; RP 281-83, 290-91, 294, 289-91.

In other text messages, D.D.O. also stated that what Gomez was doing was not right and that she was going to tell her mother.

Exh. 12, p. 44, 74; RP 281-83, 290-91, 294. These messages also

corroborate his inappropriate sexual attention to her. If the jury

believed D.D.O. was fabricating the molestation, there is nothing

about the preservation of her allegations in a text message that

gave them additional credibility.

F. CONCLUSION

The State respectfully asks that the petition for review be

denied. However, if review is granted, in the interests of justice the

State seeks cross-review of the issues identified in Sections C and

E, supra.